



Acknowledgment

I would like to say thanks to my main supervisor Dr. Turid Mørkøre from Nofima and Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU) for inviting me to be a part of scientific team organizing this project title "Dark spots in salmon fillet" funded by the Norwegian Fishery and Aquaculture Industry Research Fund (FHF). Thank you for your guidance and support throughout the journey, facilitating me to conduct statistical analysis and technical advises that enable me to understand the current issues of the project. I would also like to say thanks to my co-supervisor Professor Dr. Erling Olaf Koppang from NMBU for his valuable guidance regarding the histological manifestation of the pigmented spots and laboratory aids for processing the samples. Also, thanks for Dr. Agnar Ståle Kvellestad and Elin Christine Valen for helping me to collect samples from the research station. I would also say thanks to my co-supervisor Professor Dr. Kjell-Arne Rørvik for practical management of the feed trail and all personnel at Marine Harvest Research station Averøy, Kristiansand and Nofima, Ås for their help and support to make this project successful.

I am grateful to Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU) for providing me an opportunity to complete post graduate studies in world's best academic institute and to complete my research trail studies with Nofima, Ås, which is a dream of every student especially from a country like Pakistan.

I feel proud to say thanks to my parents which put their endless efforts that cannot be described in words and facilitated me during the entire studies, my elder brother and her wife who motivated and supported me to study abroad in a developed country like Norway, my sister and her husband for their kindness and motivation, my younger brother who encourage me throughout the life and all friends from Norway and Pakistan for keeping the spirit up to achieve this goal.

Table of Contents

Abstract:IV				
List of FiguresV				
Li	List of TablesVII			
1	1 INTRODUCTION			
2 THEORATICAL BACKGROUND				
	2.1	Fish Health4		
	2.2	Fillet Quality7		
	2.3	Melanin9		
	2.4	Vitamin E12		
	2.5	Minerals13		
	2.6	Stress Physiology14		
	2.7	Handling stress by vaccination16		
3	M	ATERIALS AND METHODS		
	3.1	Analysis19		
	3.2	Histology20		
4	BIC	DMETRIC TRAITS		
	4.1	Melanin in Fillet22		
	4.2	Melanization of Peritoneum22		
	4.3	Data Analysis22		
	4.4	Calculations23		
5 RESULTS		SULTS		
	5.1	Biometric traits		
	5.2	Blood chemistry:		
	5.3	Histology of Melanized Tissue		
6	DIS	SCUSSION		
	6.1	Biometric Traits		
	6.2	Microscopic Evaluation and Blood Chemistry45		
7	Со	nclusions		
8	References			

9	A	Appendices	64
	9.1	Appendix A	64
	9.2	Appendix B	

Abstract:

Good performance, robustness to diseases and stress, and flesh quality according to consumer expectations are important success factor in farming of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L). In recent years, superficial hyper-pigmented "black spots" are the major fillet quality problem that causes severe economic losses to the salmon industry. The aim of current research thesis was to investigate the effect of diet on black spots, robustness to stress, health parameters and product yield. Diets offered during the research trail were either a standard commercial salmon feed or the same feed supplemented with antioxidants (vitamin-E and selenium), copper or zinc. The experiment was conducted in seawater in triplicate net pens per dietary treatment from of June to September 2014. Harvesting was done either by a standard method or after crowding stress. The zinc group showed significantly higher body weight (4067 \pm 60 g vs 3797 \pm 53 g), body length $(69 \pm 0.3 \text{ cm vs } 67.7 \pm 0.3 \text{ cm})$, fillet weight $(2607 \pm 40 \text{ g vs } 2394 \pm 35 \text{ g})$ and fillet yield $(64.1 \pm 1000 \text{ g vs } 2394 \pm 35 \text{ g})$ 0.1% vs $63.2\pm0.2\%$), and lower melanization of the peritoneum. The antioxidant group showed lower melanization of skeletal muscle and the zinc group also tended to have lower degree of melanization. The copper supplementation showed no significant effect, but a tendency to higher incidence of dark pigmented spots. Light microscopy of the melanized tissue samples revealed aggregation of mononuclear, pigmented cells or darkly stained particles inside the cells surrounding the tissues. It is concluded from the current study trail that supplementation of zinc increases growth performance and improves fillet yield. The antioxidant supplementation improves health status with lowest incidence of pigmented spots.

Key words: Dark pigmented spots, dietary treatments, histopathology, fillet quality, stress resistance, Atlantic salmon.

List of Figures

FIGURE 2-1: STRUCTURAL REPRESENTATION OF EUMELANIN AND PHEOMELANIN
FIGURE 3-1: ANALYSIS AT MARINE HARVEST RESEARCH STATION
FIGURE 5-1: BODY WEIGHT (G) AND GUTTED WEIGHT (G) OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD
DIET (CONTROL) OR THE SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR
ZINC (ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS. RESULTS ARE PRESENTED AS LS MEAN \pm SE and different superscripts
INDICATE SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P<0.05)
FIGURE 5-2: BODY LENGTH (CM) OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET (CONTROL) OR THE
SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC (ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS.
Results are presented as LS mean \pm SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences
BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P<0.05)
FIGURE 5-3: FILLET WEIGHT (G) OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET (CONTROL) OR THE
SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC (ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS.
Results are presented as LS mean \pm SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences
BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P<0.05)
FIGURE 5-4: LIVER AND HEART WEIGHT (G) OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET
(CONTROL) OR THE SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC
(ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS. RESULTS ARE PRESENTED AS LS MEAN \pm SE and different superscripts indicate
SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P <0.05)27
FIGURE 5-5: CONDITION FACTOR OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET (CONTROL) OR THE
SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC (ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS.
Results are presented as LS mean \pm SE. The same superscripts indicate no significant differences
BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P< 0.05)
FIGURE 5-6: HEPATOSOMATIC INDEX VALUES OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET
(CONTROL) OR THE SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC
(ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS. RESULTS ARE PRESENTED AS LS MEAN \pm SE. THE SAME SUPERSCRIPTS INDICATE NO
SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P <0.05)28
FIGURE 5-7: CARCASS YIELD AND FILLET YIELD (%) OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET
(CONTROL) OR THE SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC
(ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS. RESULTS ARE PRESENTED AS LS MEAN \pm SE and different superscripts indicate
SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P <0.05)
FIGURE 5-8: MELANIN SCORE (0-3) IN ABDOMINAL WALL AND ORGANS (0-3) OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR
L.) FED A STANDARD DIET (CONTROL) OR THE SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT),
COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC (ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS. RESULTS ARE PRESENTED AS LS MEAN \pm SE and different
SUPERSCRIPTS YOU CHOOSE INDICATE SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P $<$ 0.05) 29
FIGURE 5-9: DARK MUSCLE SEGMENT OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET (CONTROL) OR THE
SAME DIE I ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC (ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS. RESULTS ARE PRESENTED AS I S MEAN + SE AND DIFFERENT SUPERSCRIPTS YOU CHOOSE INDICATE SIGNIFICANT
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P<0.05)
FIGURE 5-10: TOTAL PROTEIN (G/L) OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET (CONTROL) OR
THE SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT). COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC (ZINC) FOR 12
WEEKS. THE SALMON WERE SLAUGHTERED ACCORDING TO STANDARD PROCEDURE OR UPON CROWDING STRESS.
RESULTS ARE PRESENTED AS LS MEAN ± SE AND DIFFERENT SUPERSCRIPTS INDICATE SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES
BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P<0.05)
FIGURE 5-11: CORTISOL (NMOL/L) OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET (CONTROL) OR
THE SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC (ZINC) FOR 12

WEEKS. THE SALMON WERE SLAUGHTERED ACCORDING TO STANDARD PROCEDURE OR UPON CROWDING STRESS	S.
Results are presented as LS mean \pm SE and different superscripts indicate significant difference	ES
BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P<0.05)	32
FIGURE 5-12: GLUCOSE LEVEL (MMOL/L) IN BLOOD OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET	Г
(CONTROL) OR THE SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC	
(ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS. THE SALMON WERE SLAUGHTERED ACCORDING TO STANDARD PROCEDURE OR UPON	
CROWDING STRESS. RESULTS ARE PRESENTED AS LS MEAN \pm SE and different superscripts indicate	
SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P <0.05)	33
FIGURE 5-13: TYPICAL MELANIN SPOT IN SALMON FILLET.	34
FIGURE 5-14: A POLYPHASIC NECROTIZING MYOPATHY CONTAINING PIGMENTED CELLS INDICATED BY ARROW HEAD	
(H&E STAINING, SCALE BAR = 100MM)	34
FIGURE 5-15: PIGMENTED SPOTS SURROUNDING BY MELANO-MACROPHAGES FORMING A VACUOLE (H&E STAINING,	
SCALE BAR = 200mm)	35
$Figure \ 5-16: Degenerative \ fibrous \ tissue \ with \ pigmented \ cells \ indicating \ chronic \ inflammation \ (H\&E)$	
STAINING, SCALE BAR = 200mm)	36
FIGURE 5-17: PETECHIAL HAEMORRHAGE WITH DARKLY STAINED NUCLEAR GRANULES INDICATING ACUTE	
INFLAMMATION (H&E STAINING, SCALE BAR = 50MM)	36
FIGURE 5-18: TISSUE CONTAINING NUCLEAR GRANULES IN AREA SURROUNDING INFLAMMATION (H&E STAINING,	
SCALE BAR = 50 mm)	37
Figure 5-19: Tissue with abnormal morphology (H&E staining, scale bar = 100 mm)	38
FIGURE 5-20: DEGENERATIVE MUSCLE FIBER CONTAINING MELANIN GRANULES (H&E STAINING, SCALE BAR = 20MM	1)
	38
FIGURE 5-21: DENDRITIC SHAPED CELLS WITH MELANIN (H&E STAINING, SCALE BAR = 50MM)	39
FIGURE 5-22: PARTIAL DEGENERATION OF MYOCYTES (H&E STAINING, SCALE BAR = 100MM)	39
FIGURE 5-23: ACUTE INFLAMMATION CONTAINING PIGMENTED AND NON-PIGMENTED GRANULES (H&E STAINING,	
SCALE BAR = 50 MM)	40
FIGURE 5-24: NORMAL MUSCLE TISSUE (H&E STAINING, SCALE BAR = 100MM)	40
FIGURE 5-25: REFERENCE SLIDE (H&E STAINING, SCALE BAR = 50MM	41
FIGURE 5-26: LONGITUDINAL SECTION OF MUSCLE FIBER (H&E STAINING, SCALE BAR = 100MM)	41

List of Tables

TABLE 3-1: FEED TRAIL DESIGN SHOWING THE DISTRIBUTION OF DIETARY TREATMENTS FISHES AMONG DIFFERENT
NET PEN
TABLE 5-1: DATA FROM BIOMETRIC TRAITS OF ATLANTIC SALMON (SALMO SALAR L.) FED A STANDARD DIET
(CONTROL) OR THE SAME DIET ADDED VITAMIN E AND SELENIUM (ANTIOXIDANT), COPPER (COPPER) OR ZINC
(ZINC) FOR 12 WEEKS. RESULTS ARE PRESENTED AS LS MEAN \pm SE and different superscripts indicate
SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN DIETARY TREATMENTS (P <0.05)

1 INTRODUCTION

Aquaculture is the second largest industry in Norway with cultivation of Atlantic salmon *(Salmo salar L.)* as the dominating specie and contributing significantly to the economic development of the country (FAO, 2005). Salmon has high nutritional value with high quality proteins, omega-3 fatty acids, vitamins and minerals. These nutritional components are contributing positively in reducing diseases like atherosclerosis and cardiovascular diseases in human (Porter, 2005, Børresen, 2008).

Salmon farmers aim to produce fast growth and healthy fish with attractive visual appearance, flavor and texture (FAO, 2005; Paterson *et al.*, 1997; Kiessling *et al.*, 2006). Generally the customer preferences are variable (Greenhoff & MacFie, 1994). In 1992 Koteng reported that 5% of the salmon buyers were not satisfied with dark hyper-pigmentation of the fillet (black spots) (Koteng, 1992). Nowadays the main problem of salmon fillet quality is melanin hyper-pigmentation which imparts undesired black color (Berg *et al.*, 2012). A recent study has showed that the probability of melanization in salmon fillet has been recorded up to 19% (Mørkøre *et al.*, 2015).

Abnormal pigmentation may be associated with various pathological changes in organs and tissues. The origin of these pigments may be endogenous or exogenous. The pigment of endogenous origin includes hemoglobin, porphyrin, derivatives of lipids and melanin. The term melanosis refers to the accumulation of melanin in abnormal sites (Thomson, 1984). Pigment producing cells (melanocytes) are responsible for the production of melanin which imparts dark color to the fish fillet (Hearing *et al.*, 1991). The production of melanin in the muscles is not yet clearly understood. A close connection has been reported between pathogens and melanin spot in fish. Moreover melano-macrophages were observed at the site of affected area after bacterial infection (Ribelin & Migaki, 1975). In salmon the pigment producing granules were identified as an inflammatory response that relates the immune system to the pigmentary system (Larsen *et al.*, 2012). Melanin pigmentation is often observed in organs as a result of vaccination, and stress due to vaccination was suggested to be the reason for dark pigmentation in salmon fillets (Koppang *et al.*, 2005).

During stress, the oxidation process tends to influence the ratio of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and antioxidant molecules (Finkel & Holbrook, 2000). Antioxidants like α -tocopherol has been documented to minimize the process of melanogenesis (Yamamura *et al.*, 2002) and glutathione (GSH) which is a biologically important reducing agent, also play a determining role in melanogenesis (Marmol *et al.*, 1993). Carotenoids are oxidation-sensitive molecules and hence can act as antioxidant (McGraw, 2006; van Schantz *et al.*, 1999: Hartley & Kennedy, 2004). Similarly melanin could also act as an antioxidant which is sensitive to oxidation stress (McGraw, 2006: Moreno & Moller, 2006).

Zinc acts as a co-factor in enzymes which carry out nucleic acid and protein metabolism (Tacon, 1990). Copper exhibit pro-oxidant activity it also acts as a co-factor for the enzyme tyrosinase and stimulate the expression of melanin based signals on exposure to free radicals formed during oxidation (Galvan & Alonso-Alvarez, 2008). The antioxidants occupy the binding site of the free radicals which protect the membranes from oxidation (Knox *et al.*, 1984).

The main aim of the current study was to determine the effect of dietary supplementation of antioxidants (Se, vit-E), zinc (Zn) or copper (Cu) on salmon performance, health, robustness to

stress and flesh quality with special emphasis on black spots. To achieve this goal, the following parameters were analyzed: biometric traits (body weight, body length, fillet yield, carcass yield and organ indices), melanization of tissues (fillet, organ and abdominal wall,) histopathology of the black spots and blood chemistry (total protein, cortisol and glucose).

2 THEORATICAL BACKGROUND

2.1 Fish Health

The presence of melanin in fish fillets decreases the product quality (Koteng, 1992). In vertebrates the melanin synthesis takes place in melanocytes and further proceed in melanosomes which are intracellular organelle related to lysosomes (Orlow, 1995; Raposo *et al.*, 2002). In mammals the origin of melanocytes is the embryonic neural tube (Sulaimon & Kitchell 2003). These melanocytes have affinity to transforme into inflamed tissue (Thomson, 1984). The tissue regeneration and inflammatory reaction response in salmonids have close similarity with mammals (Finn & Nielson, 1971). Additionally these melanocytes also trigger the involvement of melanomacrophages (Roberts 1975; Agius & Roberts 2003). The origin of melanosomes in visceral organs and muscle tissue in fish is not exactly known (Agius & Roberts 2003).

In poikilothermic vertebrates the phenomenon of melanogenesis take place in cells derived from mesenchyma of the haematopoitic lineage (Sichel, Scalia, Mondio & Corsaro, 1997). In teleost the melano-macrophages have shown macrophage like properties but the exact mechanism is not known (Agius & Roberts 2003). It has been proposed that the role and formation of melanin in various tissue and organ level are related with non-specific immune mechanism. This mechanism also describe the presence of melanin around the peritoneum and visceral organs of poikilothermic vertebrates (Mackintosh, 2001).

It has been documented that melanin spots developed from non-specific inflammatory response induced by physical stress like vaccination. The most vaccines available in markets are in injectable form which contain non-matabolizable mineral oil. This non-metabolizable mineral oil triggers intense inflammatory response as compared to the metabolizable mineral oil (Spickler & Roth 2003). Mineral oils consist of long chains of inert hydrocarbons. These oils are not activated by biochemical reactions. They are usually obtained as a byproduct during petroleum distillation (Murray *et al.*, 1972). The side effect of mineral oil based adjuvant vaccines has been reported in lab and domesticated animals. Due to intense inflammatory response made by oil based vaccines it is not recommended for human application (Gupta *et al.*, 2003). Recent studies also revealed that oil based vaccines may induce immune complex mediated glomerulonephritis and auto-immune response glomerulonephritis (Shaheen *et al.*, 1999; Satoh *et al.*, 2003; Kuroda *et al.*, 2004). The side effects of oil based vaccines was not documented in fish but specific inflammatory response at the site of injection and area around peritoneum was observed (Lillehaug *et al.*, 1992; Midtlyng, 1996; Poppe & Breck 1997; Mutoloki *et al.*, 2004). The observed consequences of vaccination are granulomatous peritonitis, adhesions of peritoneum and visceral organs, stunted growth and reduced fillet quality (Poppe *et al.*, 2002).

Usually in salmonids the injectable site for vaccination is posterior part of abdominal cavity but the occurrence of melanin spots is random and more abundant in the anterior part of the fillet (Mathiassen *et al.*, 2007). Most recent studies revealed the similar pattern of melanin formation in unvaccinated salmon (Norwegian School of Veterinary Science, 2013). In Atlantic salmon melanin formation takes place in melanosomes of the muscle tissue which make strong connection between immune response and pigment producing mechanism (Larsen *et al.*, 2012).

The Norwegian salmon industry have succeeded in controlling the problems regarding the fish health and minimize the administration of antibiotics by introducing vaccinations (Poppe, 2006). But vaccination may induce some side effects in the fish like decrease in feed intake and growth rate. However, the fish injected with normal saline do not show decrease in feed intake and growth rate. Other factor may affect vaccination like fish size, temperature, photoperiod, feeding

time, fish density, handling and management. In some cases the vaccinated fish also attain the same length and body weight as compared to unvaccinated fish when transfer to sea water. During normal conditions, vaccinated and unvaccinated fish may show similar growth rate. Other factors like breeding, low bioavailability of phosphorus in feed, rapid growth, environmental contaminants and environmental temperature may also play key roles in decreased feed intake and growth rate. So vaccination alone is not the only detrimental factor which induces developmental anomalies in salmon. Moreover Norwegian slaughterhouses recorded variable amount of melanin pigments from the fish that had been reared, vaccinated and slaughtered under the same conditions. Also the defense mechanism of all the fishes are not exactly the same. These findings conclude that different factors are dependent on each other. For many years vaccine was suggested as the principle cause of melanin spots in the fillets and organs, but experimental trails have shown that most probably the melanin spots in fillets and organs can have different origin and it is also unlikely that physical stress induced by handling during vaccination is the main factor in inducing melanin spots. These statements are validated by the recorded data from in-depth evaluation of different associated determinants (Berg et al., 2007 and Mørkøre, 2012).

Pancreas disease (PD) caused by salmon alpha virus (SAV) can lead to the formation of melanin spot in salmon fish fillets. The exact relationship between level of infection and melanin formation is not clearly established by the industry (Mørkøre, 2008). PD is a viral infection and leads to significant losses to the Norwegian aquaculture, especially Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout infecting at an average of 90 localities every year since 2006 (Jansen *et al.*, 2010). In chronic infected muscles the desired bright red color is not obtained even though high levels of astaxanthin are administered. The incidence of dark spots and discoloration of the fillet can occur at the same time (Mørkøre, 2012).

Stress is also a contributing factor to the development of melanin in fillets. Stress is defined as collective response of biological reactions in response to abnormal stimuli that tends to disturb the organisms homeostasis. The stimulus could be physical, mental or emotional, internal, nutritional and external to the environment. Nutritional stress may correspond to foreign particles in the feed that stimulate body defense mechanism and macrophages starts producing e.g. lipofuscin and hemosiderin (Mørkøre, 2012; Thorsen, 2006). Hemosiderin is a golden brown pigment formed by the breakdown hemoglobin by macrophages and lipofuscin occur in different cells. The presence of lipofuscin indicates the formation of free radicals and composed of proteinphospholipid complex (Krause, 2005). If the haemorrhage areas was occupied by macrophages of the anterior kidney then it would result in increased deposition of pigments (blood/melanin). The experimental trails conducted on carp has revealed that melanin deposition can occur due to the presence of foreign particles that tend to induce increased level of melano-macrophages, lipofuscin and hemosiderin at the anterior lobe of the kidney. One possible assumption is that the macrophages from anterior lobe of kidney migrate to the haemorrhagic site that ultimately leads to the melanin deposition in the surrounding area. The other possibility is that foreign particle presence in the feed will tend to elevate the formation of the melanization in the surrounding area and the foreign particles present in feed that tend to increase the elasticity of the walls of the blood vessel and increase the internal immunity, thus decreasing the melanin spot formation.

2.2 Fillet Quality

The incidence of melanin spots on salmon fillets is increasing and they do not vanish while baking or smoking and imparts bad impression on the product quality (Mørkøre, 2008). In 2006, the processing industry reported 30% degradation of salmon fillet due to melanin pigmention (Thorsen, 2006). In 2007, an industry reported that approximately 8-20% of the total fillets had melanin spot and 4% of them were discarded (Mathiassen *et al.*, 2007).

Recently in 2013, the incidence of melanin spots in fillet with light grey spots with diameter \geq 3 cm was estimated around 12% while 2% of the fillet had darkly stained melanin spot with a diameter \leq 3cm (FAO, 2013). Geographically, the incidence of melanin was not randomly distributed. The southern part of Norway had a prevalence of 22%, northern part of Norway 12% while the prevalence of melanin spots in the central area of Norway was 15% (Mørkøre, 2012). In many food items, melanin was a natural component and no side effect, allergic reaction or toxicity was reported (FAO, 2013). The customer do not prefer any discoloration or dark pigmentation of the fillet as they associate discoloration with inferior quality. The melanin spot decreases market price and fillets with dark spots are downgraded in the production line as the fillet containing melanin can't be marketed as a whole fillet (Mathiassen *et al.*, 2007). Melanin spot can have a variety of shades. Darkly stained fillet spots were due to melanin while red to greyish black spots could be due to blood pigment as a result of haemorrhages or scar tissue formation or combination of both (FAO, 2013).

It is an established fact that dark fillet spots were an inflammatory response or tissue damage by immune system of the fish (FAO, 2013). The melanin was found not only around the peritoneal membrane of the abdominal wall but also anywhere on surface or deep in fillets and measuring length around 1-4 cm (Mørkøre, 2008). The incidence of melanin spot increases with the age of the fish which also led to the hypothesis that the phenomenon of dark spot formation can't be related to the vaccination only (Mørkøre, 2012). Vitamin E also known as α -tocopherol is an important lipid soluble antioxidant. In human the Vit-E together with other vitamins has a role to stop bleeding. In 2011 it was reported that the inclusion of Vit-E prior to harvesting improved the robustness to stress during slaughtering as indicated by biomarkers in the blood. Vit-E inclusion in feed also improved gut health and muscle texture (Mørkøre, 2012). Vit-E also increases the product shelf life as it has a role of antioxidant and prevent the formation of free radicals during oxidation of lipids (Baker, 2001).

2.3 Melanin

Melanin is a high molecular weight, complex biopolymer of indole quinone, insoluble and stable pigment (Jacobson 2000). Naturally it is found in most animals and plants and responsible for skin, eye and hair color in human (Mørkøre & Prytz 2013). The melanin simply means black pigment which is originated from animals (Swan, 1974).

Melanin is synthesized by specialized dendritic cells, melanocytes derived from ectoderm of the skin. At the cellular level the amount of melanization is monitored by specific organelles known as melanosomes that are produced in different size and densities. The amount of production of melanosomes is genetically controlled. After production, the melanosomes are transferred to keratinocytes and hair shaft, in the skin and hair bulb respectively from where final distribution take place in response to certain stimuli (Hearing *et al.* 1991).

The process of melanin synthesis (melanogenesis) is regulated by a variety of extracellular factors like ultraviolet radiation (Bolognia *et al.*, 1989), interferon (Kameyama *et al.*, 1989) and substrates (Slominski *et al.*, 1987). These factors hyper-sensitize the melanocyte stimulating hormone (MSH) receptors. MSH is a peptide hormone secreted from the posterior lobe of pituitary gland. The MSH increases the production of eumelanin. The melanosomes work together with

neighboring cells were engulfed and distributed by the skin keratinocytes and distribute themselves around the nucleus and protecting the inner cell organelles from harmful effects (Hearing *et al.* 1991). There are three different structures of melanin, i.e. eumelanin, pheomelanin and neuromelanin, but the most prevalent melanin found in teleosts is eumelanin (Bagnara & Matsumoto 1998; Agius & Roberts, 2003).



Figure 2-1: Structural representation of eumelanin and pheomelanin.

Melanin has been used for enhancing taste and flavor in many dishes in Venice since 14th century. Today Italian black macaroni also has melanin as principle ingredient to enhance flavor. Nowadays many natural herbs containing melanin are consumed to facilitate digestion and other health benefits (FAO, 2013).

People in western world urge to increase their skin tone by melanin production. Certain food items are now available in the market that stimulate melanin production like soy, beans, apricots, eggs, oyster containing copper, liver, shell fish, turkey, chicken, fish and certain dairy products like yogurt and cheese (Mørkøre, 2012).

Melanin is a photosensitive pigment as it has tendency to absorb and dissipate radiation like UVR (Meredith & Sarna, 2006). Melanin is a photo-protective agent and used in sunscreen lotions. UVR causes rancidity of fats, oils and dairy products by producing free radicals, thus degrading the product quality. The melanin has capability to absorb these free radicals and they are used as preservation of various products (NPS, 2013). In Avians, melanin gave more strength to the feathers and protect them against bacterial degradation.

2.4 Vitamin E

Vitamin E is a fat soluble vitamin discovered during studies conducted on rats in 1922 (Thorsen J. 2006). It protects the plasma membrane from free radicals produced during oxidation (Hamre *et al.*, 1998). The two important components of vitamin E are tocopherols and tocotrienols. Among these α -tocopherol and γ -tocopherol are widely studied and commercially available being exclusively used in feed industry. Natural sources of vitamin E are eggs, liver, vegetable oils, green vegetables and plants (McDowell, 1989). It is well documented that vitamin E plays a key role in fish immune mechanism. It increases fish health, aids the specific and non-specific immune

mechanisms against certain diseases, increases fillet quality and reduces mortality (Ispir *et al.*, 2011; Halver & Hardy *et al.*, 2002). Certain abnormalities have been documented due dietary deficiency of vitamin E like anemia, muscular dystrophy, erythrocytic fragility and pale coloration of the fillet (NRC, 1993). The requirements of vitamin E does not remain constant during different stages of life. The daily requirement of Atlantic salmon is 120mg/kg of dry feed. Various factors which determine the digestion and absorption of vitamin E are water temperature, level of selenium in the diet and ratio of antioxidant level and dietary fat (Hamre *et al.*, 1995).

2.5 Minerals

Minerals play important roles in the daily cell activities of fish and other animals. Fish fulfill their requirements by dietary intake or uptake from the water. The body requirements are controlled by homeostatic mechanism, which determine the amount required for cell metabolism. Minerals play important roles in maintaining acid-base balance, formation of skeleton and as a co-factor in enzymes and hormones. Mineral deficiency may result in stunted growth and development of pathological conditions while excess of minerals may results in toxicity (Watanabe *et al.*, 1997).

Zinc acts as a co-factor in enzyme function which carry out metabolism of carbohydrates, lipids and proteins. It is an integral part of nucleic acid and protein metabolism. It also play important roles in the function of hormones like corticosteroids, insulin, glucagon, follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) (Tacon, 1990).

In view of importance of zinc, it should be included in fish feed. Normally it is absorbed through digestive tract and to some extent via gills (Peterson *et al.*, 1997). The daily requirement of zinc by Atlantic salmon varies from 37-67 mg/kg (Maage & Julshamn, 1993). The inclusion

level of Zinc for salmon feed ranges from 80-118mg/kg (Tacon and De Silva, 1983). Commercial feed industry marketing feed with 150 mg/kg of Zinc (Nutra Olympic, 2014) and 200mg/kg (EFSA, 2014). In rainbow trout its deficiency causes immunosuppression and eye lens cataract and also affects mineral deposition and function of gonads in common carp (Kiron *et al.*, 1993). Higher doses of zinc may cause cross reactions with copper and iron which play important roles in red blood cells (RBC) synthesis (Knox *et al.*, 1984).

2.6 Stress Physiology

The physiological response to stress stimulus has unique mechanism in the survival of the organism. This physiological response pattern is highly specific in vertebrates. Random and repeated exposure to stressors has deleterious effects on the physiology of organisms like alteration and incoordination in function of nervous system, growth and development, metabolism, reproductive system and immune system function. Fish exhibits unique pattern of physiological and biochemical changes in response to handling and crowding stress. The stress response in fish has been divided into different categories like primary response, secondary response and tertiary response (Mazeaud *et al.*, 1977).

Primary response include active release of stress hormones like cortisol and catecholamine into the blood circulation. Secondary response includes immediate effect of these hormones at tissue and cellular level such as effect on acid-base balance, cellular function, immune response, mineral ions balance, respiration, growth and metabolism. The tertiary response is comprised of detrimental adaptations at the individual level and even at the population level. These feedback mechanisms include variation in performance factors like disease resistance, growth and behavior. The stress hormones like cortisol and catecholamine regulates various physiological and biochemical processes such as activation of metabolic pathways that amend hematology and blood chemistry. For example in carbohydrate metabolism these hormones stimulates glucose synthesis by gluconeogenesis, which results in the escalation of blood plasma glucose concentration (Barton and Iwama, 1991; Nakano et al., 2014). The fish may encounter deleterious effects if it was not accustomed to these stressors. The response to these stressors induced high energy demanding mechanisms, which deprive energy away from basic life processes like reproduction and metabolic processes like growth and development.

Secondary response includes immediate effect of these hormones at tissue and cellular level such as effect on acid-base balance, cellular function, immune response, mineral ions balance, respiration, growth and metabolism. The tertiary response is comprises of detrimental adaptations at the individual level and even at the population level. These feedback mechanisms include variation in performance factors like disease resistance, growth and behavior.

In a normal production system, fish were exposed to a variety of artificial and natural stressors such as handling, holding, collecting, sorting, transportation and vaccination. These normal routine procedures influence fish health and physiology. In intensive aquaculture systems, water quality and fish crowding were important parameters contributing to fish health and stress (Barton *et al.*, 2000). Temperature, pH, ammonia, nitrite, nitrate, dissolved oxygen, carbondioxide, salinity, hardness and alkalinity were common water quality parameter that influence the physiological stress (Portz *et al.*, 2006). To evaluate the fish health status, blood parameters were used as indicators of fish physiology in recent studies. Variation in glucose and cortisol level in blood are most widely used to determine the stress status in fish (Pickering & Pottinger, 1989; Barton & Iwama, 1991; Mazeaud *et al.*, 1977, Silbergeld, 1974).

2.7 Handling stress by vaccination

The history of vaccination was first documented by Polish scientists in 1938 under the supervision of Snieszko, where vaccination of common carp with bacterial culture Aeromonas punctate was performed to develop the immunity. In 1942 another scientist Duff, worked on vaccination against Aeromonas salmonida (Gudding & Muiswinkel). The vaccination against the viral infection was conducted for the first time by the Russian pathologist Goncharov in 1951 (Goncharov & Mikriakov, 1968). The most advancement about vaccination in fish at molecular level started between 1950 and 1960. Fish immunity by vaccination gained similar importance as for other vertebrates. Aquaculture practices are still needed to be addressed in many developing countries when compared with other animal husbandry practices (Muiswinkel, 2008). The knowledge and development of vaccination in aquaculture is increasing with the passage of time. The use of antibiotics, which is a big issue these days, can be controlled by better knowledge of vaccination and farming techniques.

Vaccines are suspensions containing live, killed, attenuated or modified microorganisms/ toxins which act as antigens which on administration into the body stimulate the body immune system to produce specific antibodies and prevent the individual against future outbreak of a disease. The vaccine preparation can be oil based or water based. The oil or water adjuvant enhances the efficacy and life span of the vaccine. In fish the vaccine can be orally or through injection. In oral route the vaccine can be mixed / coated with feed or bio-encapsulated. The vaccine is absorb through mucosal surface of the gastrointestinal tract and stimulate the body immune system. For injectable vaccine anesthesia is needed in order to minimize the stress and mechanical injuries. The route of injection can be intramuscular or intraperitoneal, but the most widely used route of injection with minimum side effect is intraperitoneal (Komar *et al.*, 2004). The desired site is located on the midline of the ventral side of the abdominal wall just in front of the caudal fin. The accuracy of injection minimize the mortality and other complications (Intervet International B.V, 2005). Injectable vaccine is a preferred method and provide better immunity as each and every fish receive the desired amount of vaccine that is required to initiate the body's immune system and this method is done under trained staff (Komar *et al.*, 2004).

In salmonids, threshold level of maternal antibodies in young fish fry was too low to provide immunity against infections (Lillehaug *et. al.*, 1996). This deficiency was compensated by early development of immune system (Johnson *et. al.*, 1982). Vaccination results made it a demanding phenomenon. The fish health organizations consider it against fish welfare as it activates the immune system of fish against infections. Studies have shown that the immune response mechanism was similar in fish, birds and mammals and considered vaccination as a good immune-prophylaxis tool. In Norway the use of vaccination has been successfully monitored by qualified scientists in government and private sector. A good communication is important among the industry and the governing authorities. This mutual understanding makes possibility for the scientists to develop and market the vaccine at better speed (Gudding & Muiswinkel, 2013).

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted at Marine Harvest Research Station Averøy, Kristiansund, Norway from June to September 2014 as a part of research project "Dark spots in salmon fillet" funded by the Norwegian Fishery and Aquaculture Industry Research Fund (FHF). In total 1680 1+ smolt of *Atlantic salmon* were kept in 12 net pens with 140 fishes each. The 12 net pens were divided into three randomized block design. Each block consisted of four groups zinc group (Zn), copper group (Cu), antioxidant group (Selenium and vit-E) or control group. The feed used during the research trail was a standard commercial diet (9mm) manufactured by Skretting AS, Averøy, Kristiansund, Norway. The volume of each seawater net pen was 125m³. The temperature was recorded every day at the depth of 3m and the average value during the entire period of study was 9°C.

BLO	OCK 1	BLOCK 2		ВLОСК З	
F1	F3	F5	F7	F9	F11
Cu	AntiOx	К	Zn	Zn	Cu
number 140	number 140	number 140	number 140	number 140	number 140
biomass 346	biomass 349	biomass 347	biomass 342	biomass 346	biomass 344
weight (kg) 2.47	weight (kg 2 .49	weight (kg 2 .48	weight (kg ≱ .44	weight (kg)2.47	weight (kg) 2.46
F2	F4	F6	F8	F10	F12
К	Zn	Cu	AntiOx	К	AntiOx
number 140	number 140	number 140	number 140	number 140	number 140
biomass 348	biomass 343	biomass 351	biomass 351	biomass 350	biomass 348
weight (kg 涅 .48	weight (kg 津 .45	weight (kg 2 .51	weight (kg 2 .51	weight (kg)2.50	weight (kg) 2.49

Table 3-1: Feed trail design showing the distribution of dietary treatments fishes among different net pen.

A standard commercial diet (Ottoline premium, 9mm, Skretting, Averøy, Norway) was used as control diet while the diets for the other groups were modified. The gross composition of the control feed was: protein 35.6 %, fat 36.3 %, water 6.9 %, and ash 4.6 %. The content of free astaxanthin was 50 mg/kg. For Zn group the standard commercial diet was supplemented with

100mg Zn/kg by mixing the feed with Zinc Sulphate Hepta-hydrate (VWR Z4750 Sigma Aldrich International) (ZnSO₄.7H₂O). The calculated amount of ZnSO₄.7H₂O was poured in known volume of water and then mixed with feed in 25 kg batches. Specialized drum was used for mixing to ensure homogenous concentration on each feed batch. The feed was then coated with rapeseed oil to prevent the leeching and taste effect of nutrients. The feed was then air dried before fed to the fish. For Cu group the standard commercial diet was supplemented with 12 mg/kg CuSO₄.5H₂O (VWR Chemicals) using the same procedure as for the Zn feed. The Cu content in the control feed was 11 mg/kg. For Antioxidant group 0.2 mg/kg organic selenium (Sel-Plex, Alltech) & 500 mg/kg vitamin-E (dl- α -tocopherol acetate DSM Nutritional products, Basel Switzerland) was mixed in rapeseed oil as they are fat soluble and coated on the feed. Each group was offered feed 5 times a day. The uneaten feed was collected at the bottom and pumped into a wired mesh stainer (Einen *et al.* 1999).

The salmon were vaccinated on 4 April, 2013 against Vibriosis (O-1, O-2), furunkulosis, cold water Vibriosis, winter ulcers (Moritella viscosa) and Infectious Pancreas Necrosis (MSD Animal Health (Norvax Minova 6). The unvaccinated fish group were injected with salt water (1% NaCl) in order to standardize the protocol.

3.1 Analysis

The fish group was sampled on August 2014. The fish were desensitized using anaesthesia followed by percussive stunning. The blood was collected aseptically in a heparinized syringe from caudal vein. After blood sampling, the sample fish were allowed to bleed at ambient water temperature by cutting gill arches. The removal of visceral organs and filleting was done manually by trained staff. Fish parameters recorded were: the appearance of heart and liver, body weight,

gutted weight, fillet yield, abdominal fat deposition, body confirmation, frequency of melanin spots in fillets, blood parameters and histological manifestation of melanized tissues. Among the different parameters analyzed in blood plasma glucose, total protein and cortisol level will be focused for results while the detailed blood chemistry parameters are given as attachment in the appendix



Figure 3-1: Analysis at Marine Harvest research station

3.2 Histology

The pigmented spot in fillet were recorded and inspected separately. Tissue dissection and fixation of sample taken from the affected area and the normal tissue were done in 10% natural buffer formalin for histology sampling. At least 4 fishes from each group containing melanin spot

were analyzed. The processing of melanin samples for histology was done at Norwegian School of Veterinary Science, Oslo, Norway according to the routine standard operating procedures for haematoxylin and eosin staining. The prepared slides were analyzed at microscopic lab Nofima, Ås, Norway. Each slide was visualized and recorded from three different areas randomly at 10x resolution and then focus on melanin spot at higher resolutions (20x, 40x, 63x and 100x).

4 BIOMETRIC TRAITS

4.1 Melanin in Fillet

The scoring of the melanin spots was done manually by visual analysis from scale 0-3. The position of the melanin spot was also recorded (Mørkøre, T., 2012).

4.2 Melanization of Peritoneum

The characterization of melanin around visceral organs and abdominal wall was done macroscopically and graded from 0-3 VAS scales (Taksdal *et al.* 2012). The description of the scale was as under:

0 =no melanin 1 = melanin present as tiny spots or dots.

2 = observable amount of melanin. 3 = melanin present in large amount around abdominal wall/ visceral organs.

4.3 Data Analysis

The random block design data was analyzed by the programme Statistical Analysis System 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc.). The interpretation of results was done by LS mean (\pm SEM) and the level of significance was P \leq 0.05.

4.4 Calculations

Feed conversion ratio, FCR = (feed intake, g) / (net weight gain, g)

Condition factor, CF	= Weight (g) / (fish length, cm) \times 100
Weight gain, WG	= Initial wt. $W_1(g)$ – final wt. $W_0(g)$
Hepato-somatic index, HSI	= Liver weight (g) / Body weight (g) \times 100
Cardio somatic index, CSI	= Heart weight (g) / Body weight (g) \times 100
Carcass yield, CY	= Gutted weight (g) / Body weight (g) \times 100
Fillet yield, FY	= Fillet weight (g) / Body weight (g) \times 100

5 RESULTS

The results will be described into two parts. The first part describes macroscopic evaluation of tissues including biometric traits and melanization of tissues. The second part describes blood chemistry and microscopic evaluation of the melanized tissue samples. The results will be presented graphically as LS means ±Standard error, SE.

5.1 Biometric traits

The Zn group showed significantly higher body weight (4067.8g) and gutted weight (3653.5g) as compared to the antioxidant, Cu and control groups (Figure 5.1).

The Zn group showed significantly higher body length (69.1cm) as compared to the antioxidant, Cu and control groups (Figure 5.2).

The Zn group showed significantly higher fillet weight (average 2606.8) as compared to the antioxidant, Cu and control groups (Figure 5.3).

The liver weight showed no significant differences among the different dietary treatments while the Zn group had significantly higher heart weight (average 4.57) as compared to the antioxidant, Cu and control (Figure 5.4).

The condition factor (average 1.22) showed no significant differences among the different dietary treatment groups (Figure 5.5).

The hepatosomatic index (average 0.88) showed no significant differences among the different dietary treatment groups (Figure 5.6).

The carcass yield (average 89.78) showed no significant differences among the different dietary group but the antioxidant and Zn groups showed significantly higher fillet yield (average 64.1 and 63.7 respectively) as compared to the Cu and control groups (Figure 5.7).

The average melanin score of the abdominal wall varied from 1.3 for the Zinc to 1.7 for copper. The Zinc group showed significantly lower score for melanin in the abdominal wall as compared to the Antioxidant, Copper and control groups (Figure 5.8).

The average melanin score in organs varied from 0.75 for the copper group to 0.84 for the control and copper. The dietary treatments showed no significant differences among the different groups (Figure 5.8).



Figure 5-1: Body weight (g) and gutted weight (g) of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)



Figure 5-2: Body length (cm) of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)



Figure 5-3: Fillet weight (g) of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)



Figure 5-4: Liver and heart weight (g) of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)



Figure 5-5: Condition factor of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE. The same superscripts indicate no significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)



Figure 5-6: Hepatosomatic index values of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE. the same superscripts indicate no significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)



Figure 5-7: Carcass yield and fillet yield (%) of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)


Figure 5-8: Melanin score (0-3) in abdominal wall and organs (0-3) of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts you choose indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)



Figure 5-9: Dark muscle segment of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts you choose indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)

Table 5-1: Data from biometric traits of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)

Biometric traits	Antioxidant	Control	Cu	Zn	P-value		
					Diet	Sex	Model
Body weight, g	3906.05 ^B ±66.93	3797.90 ^B ±53.61	3780.20 ^B ±46.97	4067.75^{A} ±60.52	0.0013	0.0007	0.0001
Gutted weight, g	3502.70 ^B ±58.31	3405.50 ^B ±47.82	3398.60 ^B ±42.12	3653.50 ^A ±54.36	0.0011	0.0005	0.0001
Body length, cm	68.25 ^B ± 0.40	67.69 ^B ±0.30	67.49 ^B ±0.26	69.08 ^A ±0.33	0.0031	0.0031	0.0001
Condition factor	1.22 ^A ±0.01	1.22 ^A ±0.01	1.22 ^A ±0.01	1.22 ^A ±0.01	0.9818	0.0731	0.4931
Fillet weight, g	2488.60 ^B ±42.76	2393.85 ^в ±34.73	2396.85 ^B ±31.47	2606.80 ^A ±39.91	0.0001	0.0044	0.0001
Fillet yield, %	63.70 ^B ±0.16	63.22 ^{BC} ±0.11	63.20 ^C ±0.08	64.07 ^A ±0.14	0.0001	0.0026	0.0001
Carcass yield, %	89.72 ^A ±0.0.16	89.68 ^A ±0.16	89.91 ^A ±0.16	89.82 ^A ±0.16	0.6027	0.3302	0.5508
Liver weight, g	34.45 ^A ±0.66	33.51 ^A ±0.52	33.50 ^A ±0.59	35.77 ^A ±0.59	0.0223	0.0061	0.0006
Hepato somatic index, HSI, %	0.88 ^A ±0.009	0.88 ^A ±0.009	0.88 ^A ±0.009	0.88 ^A ±0.009	0.9897	0.8857	0.9970
Heart weight, g	4.26 ^B ±0.07	4.12 ^B ±0.07	4.19 ^B ±0.07	4.57 ^A ±0.07	0.0002	0.001	0.001
Cardio somatic index, CSI, %	0.11 ^A ±0.001	0.11 ^A ±0.001	0.11 ^A ±0.001	0.11 ^A ±0.001	0.3081	0.0314	0.0435
Melanin abdominal wall, score	1.57 ^A ±0.06	1.6 ^A ±0.08	1.72 ^A ±0.09	1.34 ^в ±0.08	0.0001	0.0095	0.0017
Melanin organs, score	0.84 ^A ±0.08	0.83 ^A ±0.08	0.74 ^A ±0.07	0.85 ^A ±0.09	0.8909	0.8159	0.6433

5.2 Blood chemistry:

The blood samples taken from all fishes were analyzed for total protein including albumin and globulin which are taken as stress indicator in fish. Under stress slaughter condition the total protein value showed significantly lower level of total protein as compared to the standard slaughter method (Figure 5.9).

Cortisol was also used as an indicator of stress. The Antioxidant, control and copper groups slaughter under stress condition showed significant higher level of cortisol in blood circulation when compared to the standard slaughter method (Figure 5.10).

The glucose level was also used as an indicator of stress. The stress slaughter treatment of Antioxidant, Control, Copper and Zinc group showed significantly higher level of glucose in blood at the time of slaughter when compared with standard slaughter treatment of the respective group (Figure 5.11)



Figure 5-10: Total protein (g/L) of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. The salmon were slaughtered according to standard procedure or upon crowding stress. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05).



Figure 5-11: Cortisol (nmol/L) of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. The salmon were slaughtered according to standard procedure or upon crowding stress. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05).



Figure 5-12: Glucose level (mmol/L) in blood of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. The salmon were slaughtered according to standard procedure or upon crowding stress. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05).

5.3 Histology of Melanized Tissue

The body weight, gutted weight, fillet weight, fillet yield and body length of the fish containing melanin showed slightly decreased score through the entire sampling. Focal discoloration from grey to brownish-black was prominent after filleting. Mostly the abnormal pigmentation was seen under the peritoneum in the abdominal wall while some of the pigmented spots showed no relationship with the abdominal wall with occurrence of dark pigmentation in the deep musculature. The number of pigmented spots was mostly one per fillet but in some cases up

to three spots was identified. The size of the pigmented spots varied from few millimeters to several centimeters.



Figure 5-9: Typical melanin spot in salmon fillet.

The changes in well-defined pigmented spot indicated by arrow reflect chronic polyphasic necrotizing myopathy in the vicinity of the pigmentation while degeneration of muscle fiber was also prominent.



Figure 5-10: A polyphasic necrotizing myopathy containing pigmented cells indicated by arrow head (H&E staining, scale bar = 100µm)

The pigmented spots contain abundant melano-macrophage like cells which appeared as granulomas and are considered as an indication of chronic inflammation followed by regeneration. These changes frequently contain vacuoles. These vacuoles appeared empty and surrounded by numerous melano-macrophages forming a border of pigmentation separating them from surrounding tissue.



Figure 5-11: Pigmented spots surrounding by melano-macrophages forming a vacuole (H&E staining, scale bar = 200µm)

The melano-macrophage like cells surrounded by the pigmented cells and destruction of muscle fiber forming granuloma showed an indication of chronic inflammation followed by fibrosis. Various vacuoles and degenerative fibrous tissue (indicated by arrow) were also present in the surrounding area.



Figure 5-12: Degenerative fibrous tissue with pigmented cells indicating chronic inflammation (H&E staining, scale bar = 200µm)

Petechial haemorrhage with red blood cells containing darkly stained nuclear granules in addition to melano-macrophage like cells (indicated by arrow) infiltrating the surrounding tissues indicating the possibility of acute inflammation.



Figure 5-13: Petechial haemorrhage with darkly stained nuclear granules indicating acute inflammation (H&E staining, scale bar = 50µm)

Aggregation of darkly stained cells containing nuclear granules (indicated by arrow) and mono-nuclear cells in the surrounding tissue containing pigmented cells indicating the possibility of inflammation.



Figure 5-14: Tissue containing nuclear granules in area surrounding inflammation (H&E staining, scale bar $= 50 \mu m$)

Granulomatous mass containing large number of melano-macrophages like cells (indicated by arrow) in the affected area followed by fibrosis and mass containing degenerative tissue showing abnormal cell morphology.



Figure 5-15: Tissue with abnormal morphology (H&E staining, scale bar = 100μ m) The irregularly arranged melano-macrophages found in the degenerative muscle fiber containing abundant amounts of melanin granules (indicated by arrow).



Figure 5-16: Degenerative muscle fiber containing melanin granules (H&E staining, scale bar = 20µm)

The irregularly shaped variable amount of pigmented melano-macrophages like cells abundantly found in the granulomatous tissue giving an appearance of dendritic shaped cells (indicated by arrow) with melanin. This structural difference in various melano-macrophages like cells was evident in unorganized inflamed tissue.



Figure 5-17: Dendritic shaped cells with melanin (H&E staining, scale bar = 50μm) Amorphous mass containing proteineous material in space between myocytes forming a vacuole with macrophage like cells indicating partial degeneration.



Figure 5-18: Partial degeneration of myocytes (H&E staining, scale bar = 100µm)

The muscle fiber invaded by melano-macrophages and mononuclear cells containing pigmented and non-pigmented granules indicating acute inflammation.



Figure 5-19: Acute inflammation containing pigmented and non-pigmented granules (H&E staining, scale bar = 50µm)

Cross section of normal muscle tissue from reference sample.



Figure 5-20: Normal muscle tissue (H&E staining, scale bar = 100µm)

A normal reference slide showing blood capillary.



Figure 5-21: Reference slide (H&E staining, scale bar = 50µm

Longitudinal section of normal muscle fiber showing organized pattern of muscle fibers indicated by arrow head from reference sample.



Figure 5-22: Longitudinal section of muscle fiber (H&E staining, scale bar = 100µm)

6 DISCUSSION

The discussion will also be described into two parts. The first part describes macroscopic evaluation of tissues including biometric traits and melanization of tissues. The second part describes blood chemistry and microscopic evaluation of the melanized tissue samples.

6.1 Biometric Traits

The condition factor (CF) that was evaluated by the ratio of fish weight and length. Higher values of CF indicate optimum growth that could gained under current trail. When we discuss the results among the different dietary treatments there was no significant difference in relation to the CF. The lower CF values could be due to different factors like light duration, temperature, disease outbreak, handling and management practices Folmar & Dickhoff (1980). The higher values reflect increased growth of muscles and fat storage around visceral organs. The different diets contributed equally in growth and development and it eventually increases with the passage of time and this was a good indication from economic point of view.

The results from fillet weight (FW) indicated that the Zn group showed higher fillet growth while Antioxidant group and Zn group indicated increased fillet yield when compared to other dietary treatments. The Zn was essential micronutrient and integral part of many enzymes as cofactor which carries number of metabolic reactions while antioxidant is essential to prevent denaturation of fats. Hence both groups showed optimum fillet yield.

The hepatosomatic index (HSI) was an indicator of fish health metabolism. The general appearance of liver was very important to determine the overall health status as it was the metabolic center and played key role in number of different pathways like hydroxylation of fats bile

secretions. Light brown to dark brown color and abnormal appearance indicates metabolic disorders Larsson *et al.*, (2014).

The organ adhesion remained unaffected by different dietary treatments but vaccination handling induces stress which resulted in greater organ adhesions. The organ adhesion adversely affects the fish health status. So there is also a need to develop more efficient methods of vaccination which minimize the handling stress. Studies carried out by Poppe (1997); Haugarvoll *et al.*, (2010) and Drangsholt, (2011) also indicates that oil based vaccines induces inflammation response which ultimately resulted in organ adhesion between the visceral organs itself and the body wall.

Koppang *et al.*, (2005) indicated that deposition of abnormal pigment in tissues and organs were due to some pathological conditions. Inflammation and granulomas could be formed at the injection site or adjoining tissues as a result of mineral oil based vaccines. These foreign molecules integrate from site of injection to various body tissues and organs as a result of autoimmune response by fish defense mechanism. Ultimately formation of dark pigments around visceral organs in the current study could be due to vaccination side effect. Kiron *et al.*, 1993. Ispir *et al.*, 2011 and Halver, 2002 documented that Zn and Vitamin E inclusion in diet can trigger fish immune response which resulted in increased melanin formation while the results from our current study did not validate this findings. It was also indicated that Zn group contributed to minimize the chance of melanin deposition in fillet as evident from the research trail. It could be assumed the Zn being a part of co-factor, occupied the reaction site during melanin formation pathway but further studies needed to investigate the real mechanism of how it contribute to prevent such melanin deposition. The Zn group also showed dark brown color which could be due to

hyperactivity of hepatocytes involved in detoxification of harmful components and immune system.

Melanin formation around peritoneum showed that Zn group tends to minimize the occurrence of melanin when compared to other dietary treatments while the Cu group showed the highest numerical value. Study conducted in 2010 explained the melanin formation around peritoneum as an inflammatory response of vaccination. The mineral oil component present in vaccine could be the potential source of intraperitoneal granulomas (Koppang *et al.*, 2010).

Melanin pigment formation in salmon fillet is currently an important product quality issue. Any pigmentation or discoloration in salmon fillet was assumed to be inferior product quality. which ultimately led to decrease price and sometimes even resulted in rejection of the fillet containing such melanin pigmentation (Mathiassen *et al.*, 2007). Studies conducted by Koppang in 2010 demonstrated that pigmentation or discoloration of salmon fillet has been documented in fish from British Colombia, Chile, Canada and Scotland as post vaccination effect while countries like Australia and Tasmania did not showed such pigmentation where intraperitoneal vaccination was not practiced. He also documented that no such pigmentation was documented from salmon fish of wild origin. The pigmentation of white muscle in vaccinated and farmed Atlantic salmon could be explained as granulomatous or secondary inflammatory response much identical to the foreign body type inflammatory response and the absence of pathogens at the particular site were the contributing factors for such pigmentation. (Koppang et al., 2005). Another study was conducted by Larsen and co-workers in 2012 also demonstrated that the abnormal pigmentation of skeletal muscle of salmon was possibly due to inflammatory response by pigment producing granuloma cells of fish immune system (Larsen et al., 2012). One possible factor that elicits such inflammatory immune response was intra-peritoneal vaccination technique and resulted in the

formation of pigmented (melanin) spots around peritoneum (Mørkøre, 2008). In 2012, Mørkøre demonstrated that the occurrence of pigmented (melanin) spots also tend to increase with age and size of the fish. Vaccination could not be the only contributing factor for the development of melanin spots but a phenomenon that could be related to the aging of fish. One possible reason could be that with aging of the fish which render weak immune system due to other infections or stress mechanisms. (Mørkøre *et al.*, 2012). The Zn group (0.34) showed decrease trend in organ adhesion and melanin in organ while the Cu group (0.72) showed highest tendency for these traits. So diet supplementation with Zn had contributed positive effect on minimizing the occurrence of melanin. The location of melanin spots were found in the anterior part of the abdomen in salmon. These results were similar as presented by Mørkøre, 2012 who documented that mostly the melanin spot were found to be present at the anterior part of the abdomen in salmon fillet (Mørkøre *et al.*, 2012).

6.2 Microscopic Evaluation and Blood Chemistry

In our current study, histopathology mostly revealed pigmented and granular changes in the white muscle of the skeletal tissue of the Atlantic salmon. This can be regarded as granulomatous inflammatory conditions much similar to the foreign body type occupied by epithelioid cells, macrophage-like cells and melano-macrophages. The lack of advance techniques used for identification of foreign particles (like bacteria and viruses) and other possible justification tend to postulate that stress due to injecting intraperitoneal vaccination triggered immune mediated inflammatory response which could be the most possible etiological factor responsible for these mechanisms. The majority if the pigmented granules were present in the adjoining tissues of the peritoneal cavity (Gupta *et al.*, 1993). The variation in color from grey to blackish appearance was

an index of the aggregation of melano-macrophages. Tissue embedding during processing samples for histology imparts lipid molecules into the tissue stained sections were regarded as oil adjuvant. The debris containing vesicles were regarded as organizing structure in the process of formation. The toxic side effect of oil adjuvant based vaccines is the current subject of interest. In food producing animals' oil adjuvant based vaccines are recommended only when it did not stimulate inflammation response (Spickler & Roth 2003).

In teleosts there are no scientific reports published on pharmacokinetics and drug distribution of injected mineral oil adjuvants. In poultry a group of scientists elaborated the rapid diffusion of the injected vaccine containing mineral oil components to the surrounding tissues especially the tissues with high vascularization. The hydrocarbons contained in mineral oil based vaccines were excreted as conjugated antigen-antibody complex in the egg yolk of the hen. However the excretion of these hydrocarbons from the body in non-laying hen was much slower (Franchini *et al*, 1984). In another experiment the mineral oil adjuvants injected in one leg could not identified in the other leg of the same poultry bird (Piretti *et al*, 1982). In rats it was documented that radioactive hydrocarbons when injected in intraperitoneal cavity distributed eventually to the liver and more specifically to the fat cells. Keeping in view these findings it can be concluded that salmonids store such lipids derived from mineral oil based adjuvants in their red and white musculature (Bollinger 1970). But the exposure these adjuvants present in food could not document any injurious effect to human health (Nash *et al.*, 1996).

A well-documented metabolic response to stress stimuli is elevated level of glucose in the plasma concentration of the blood. Glucose is a basic energy generating currency of the cell required for the oxidation of basic metabolic processes and increased demand of energy in relation to stress in fish. One of the key roles of liver metabolism was synthesis of new glucose

molecules, gluconeogenesis, in order to ensure the uninterrupted energy supply in the form of glucose to the extra-hepatic tissue, gills, brain and heart the period of stress (Mommsen et al., 1999). The rapid depletion of glucose in response to the stress from the liver activate adrenergic receptors and stimulate the glycogenolytic pathway which mobilize and maintain the plasma level of glucose and restoration of used glycogen molecules of the liver (Mommsen et al., 1999; Aluru and Vijayan, 2007). The standard slaughter treated group showed elevated level of blood glucose level that is highest for copper (9.2 mmol/L) and lowest for zinc (8.2 mmol/L), while the standard slaughter treated group showed much similar results within the different dietary treatments but significantly different level of blood glucose when compared with stress slaughter treated group. These results validate the studies that have documented hyper-activity of liver glucose oxidation enzymes involved in the glycolysis immediately after acute stress exposure. This mechanism is important to meet the higher energy requirement of the liver in order to maintain the internal homeostatic environment (Wiseman et al., 2007; Mommsen et al., 1999; Iwama et al., 2006). The other enzyme involved in glycolysis like kinases, and dehydrogenases also fluctuate in the same manner during acute stress. The availability of these enzymes are the rate limiting step for glycolysis. Meanwhile the gluconeogenesis is also activated and these results are supported by the hyper-activity of enzymes like phosphatases and synthetases soon after stress. In liver the most appropriate substrate for gluconeogenesis are lactate, albumin, globulin and glycerol. These substrates were upregulated soon after exposure to stress indicating the activation of proteolytic pathways (Wiseman et al., 2007). In the current study the total protein obtained by cumulative sum of albumin and globulin level, also indicates such decreased level in stress treated group. The enzymes play critical role in substrate pharmacokinetics and adaptation to specific stress response in fish.

Another metabolite related to stress response is indicated by the level of cortisol which is usually elevated on exposure to stress. The higher level of cortisol stimulates energy demanding mechanisms such as synthesis of protein to retain homeostasis (Wendelaar Bonga, 1997; Mommsen *et al.*, 1999). The higher level of cortisol also resulted in elevation of blood glucose level in fish (Mommsen et al., 1999; Iwama et al., 2006). There is very little information available for the signaling role of cortisol in proteolytic pathway at molecular level in fish. Although lysosomal utilization and degradation has shown to be the basic mechanism regulating the catalysis of muscle protein during migration, spawning and starvation (Mommsen, 2004). The role of cortisol in the breakdown of muscle protein is well established fact in mammals. This proteolytic pathway is activated by the lysosomal enzyme especially cathepsin D which act as promotor and mainly responsible for the mechanism involved in the breakdown of muscle protein (Tsukuba et al., 2000). In mammalian model system, the degradation mechanism carried by the liver lysosomes has been well documented (Roberts et al., 1997; Mommsen, 2004). Further studies are needed to investigate the exact mechanism of cortisol activating liver proteolysis. There are various mechanisms involved in the stimulation of proteolytic pathways like external environmental factors contributing stress to the fish and internal hormonal regulation which play important role in the metabolism to make adjustments necessary to minimize stress. The utilization of lysosomal enzyme cathepsin D as well as cortisol in trout validates the role of lysosomal mechanism in response to stress (Wiseman et al., 2007; Aluru & Vijayan, 2007). Cortisol also play key role in other basic physiological behavior like immune function, osmoregulation and neuroendocrine functions. Further studies needed to investigate the cortisol-mediated response in different organs like brain, gills, pancreas, intestine and gonads on exposure to stress. Evaluation and identification of cortisol-mediated response to stress will be a revolutionary step in fish genomics.

7 Conclusions

The current research project exhibited the significant importance and variation of the tissue evaluation of the dietary supplementations of antioxidant, copper and zinc when compared to control group on melanization, fish health, fillet quality and stress resistance of Atlantic salmon. It can be summarized as follows:

- Supplementation of zinc: improved growth, fillet weight, total protein and blood glucose.
 It also showed minimum incidence of melanin formation in darkly stained muscles, organ and peritoneum.
- Supplementation of antioxidant: improved fillet yield, total protein and blood glucose. It also showed improved health parameters. Melanization of organ and peritoneum showed no significant differences while less number of darkly stained muscles in salmon.
- Supplementation of copper: increased number of melanin in darkly stained muscle, organ and peritoneum. It showed decreased fillet yield.

Histopathological findings also showed darkly stained particles inside the cell surrounding the melanized tissue. Nature and origin of such particles is the hour of need for further investigation possibly with electron microscope or molecular techniques.

8 References

- A. Koteng., 1992. Markedsundersøkelse, norsk laks. Technical report, Fiskerinaeringens Landsforening, Bergen, Norway.
- Agius C. & Roberts R.J., 2003 Melano-macrophage centers and their role in fish pathology. Journal of Fish Diseases 26, 499–509.
- Aluru, N., Vijayan, M.M., 2007. Hepatic transcriptome response to glucocorticoid receptor activation in rainbow trout. Physiol. Genomics 31, 483–491.
- Andersen, B., Steinsholt, K., Stroemsnes, A. & Thomassen, M. 1994. Fillet gaping in farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Norwegian Journal of Agricultural Sciences, Norway.
- Bagnara, J.T., Matsumoto, J., 1998. Comparative anatomy and physiology of pigment cells in nonmammalian tissues. In: The Pigmentary System: Physiology and Pathophysiology, 2nd ed. Blackwell Science, Oxford, 9-40.
- Baker, R.T.M., 2001. The effect of certain micronutrients on fish flesh quality. In: Kestin,
 S.C., Warriss, P.D. (Eds.), Fish Farmed Quality. Blackwell Science, Oxford, 180–191.
- 7. Barton, B.A., Iwama, G.K., 1991. Annual Review of Fish Disease 1, 3–26.
- Barton, B. A., 2000. Salmonid fishes differ in their cortisol and glucose responses to handling and transport stress. N. Am. J. Aqua-cult. 62, 12–18.
- Barton, B. A., H. Bollig, B. L. Hauskins, and C. R. Jansen., 2000. Juvenile pallid (*Scaphirhynchus albus*) and hybrid pallid 3 shovelnose (*S. albus* 3-platornychus) sturgeons exhibit low physiological responses to acute handling and severe confinement. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 126A:125–134.

- Barton, B.A., Morgan, J.D., Vijayan, M.M., 2002. Physiological and condition-related indicators of environmental stress in fish. In: Adams, S.M. (Ed.), Biological indicators of aquatic ecosystem stress. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD, 111–148.
- Berg, A., Yurtseva, A., Hansen, T., Lajus, D., Fjelldal, PG., 2012. Vaccinated farmed Atlantic salmon are susceptible to spinal and skull deformities. Institute of Marine Research (IMR).
- Bancroft, J.D. & Gamble, M., (2002). Theory and Practice of Histological Techniques, 5th
 Ed. Churchill Livingstone, London.
- Bollinger, J.N., 1970. Metabolic fate of mineral oil adjuvant using C¹⁴-labeled tracers I: mineral oils. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 59, 1084–1088.
- Bolognia, J., Murray, M., and Pawelek, J., 1989. UVB-induced melanogenesis may be mediated through the MSH-receptor system. J. Invest. Dermatol. 92, 651-656.
- 15. Børresen, T. 2008. Improving seafood products for the consumer. Part II Health benefits of seafood, Chapter 10, 165-166.
- Drangsholt, T.M.K., Gjerde, B., Ødegård, J., Fridell, F., Bentsen, H.B., 2011. Quantitative genetics of vaccine-induced side effects in farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L). Norwegian University of Life Sciences (UMB), Norway.
- FAO corporate Document Repository. 2001. Produced by: Torry Research Station. What is gaping? FAO in partnership with Support unit for International Fisheries and Aquatic Research (SIFAR).
- FAO. 2003. Aquaculture production, 2002. Year book of Fishery Statistics -Vol. 76/4.
 Food and Agriculture organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.

- FAO. 2005. Aquaculture production, 2004. Year book of Fishery Statistics -Vol. 96/2.
 Food and Agriculture organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- 20. FAO, 2013. Aquaculture production, 2012. Year book of Fishery Statistics. Food and Agriculture organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- Finkel, T., Holbrook, N.J., 2000. Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of aging. Nature 408: 239–247.
- Finn J.P. & Nielson N.O., 1971. The inflammatory response of rainbow trout. Journal of Fish Biology3, 463–478.
- Folmar, L.C., Dickhoff, W.W., 1980. The parr-smolt transformation (smoltification) and seawater adaptations in salmonids. Aquaculture 21 1–37.
- 24. Franchini A., Piretti M.V., Tubertini O., Govoni S. & Sapigini R., (1984). Hydrocarbons in hens injected with inactivated oil adjuvant vaccine. Poultry Science 63, 2504–2507.
- Galvan, I., Alonso-Alvarez, C., 2008. An Intracellular Antioxidant Determines the Expression of a Melanin-Based Signal in a Bird. PLoS ONE 3(10): e3335. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003335.
- Goncharov, GD., Mikriakov, V.R., 1968. Study of factors of immunity of fish bacterial infection. Bull of Int. Epizoot; 69, 1373.
- Greenhoff, K, Macfie, H.J.H., 1994. Preference mapping in practice. In: Macfie, H.J.H., Thomson, D.M.H. Measurement of food preferences. London: Chapmann & Hall., 137-166.
- 28. Gudding R and Muiswinkel, W.B.V., 2013. A history of fish vaccination Science-based disease prevention in aquaculture. A Norwegian Veterinary Institute, Norway.

- 29. Gupta R.K., Relyveld E.H, Lindblad E.B., Bizzini B., Ben-Efraim S. & Gupta C.K., (1993)
 Adjuvants a balance between toxicity and adjuvanticity.Vaccine11, 293–306.
- Halver, J. E. And R. W. Hardy., 2002. The vitamins. Fish Nutrition Journal edited by J. E.
 Halver and R. W. Hardy) Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA. 61-141.
- Hamre, K., R.K. Berge, O. Lie., 1998. Turnover of α-, β-and γ-tocopherol and distribution in subcellular and lipoprotein fractions indicate presence of a hepatic tocopherol protein in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Fish Physiol. Biochem., 18: 71-83.
- Hartley, R.C., Kennedy, M.W., 2004. Are carotenoids a red herring in sexual display? Trends Ecol. Evol. 19: 353–354.
- Haugarvoll, E., Bjerkås, I., Szabo, N.J., Satoh, M., Koppang, E.O., 2010. Manifestations of systemic autoimmunity in vaccinated salmon. Vaccine 28, 4961–4969.
- Hearing, V. J., 1987. Mammalian monophenol monooxygenase (tyrosinase): purification, properties and reactions catalyzed. In Methods in Enzymology-Metabolism of Aromatic Amino Acids and Amines (Kaufman, S. eid.) Academic, New York vol. 142, 154-165,
- Hearing, V. J., and Jimnez, M., 1987. Mammalian tyrosinase: the critical regulatory control point in melanocyte pigmentation. Int. J. Biochem. 19, 1141-1147.
- Hearing, V. J., Tsukamoto, K., 1991. Enzymatic control of pigmentation in mammals. Laboratory of Cell Biology, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland 20892, USA.
- 37. Ispir, M. E. Yonar, O. B. O., 2011. Effect of Dietary Vitamin e Supplementation on the Blood Parameters of Nile Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Bingol University, Agriculture Faculty, Department of Fisheries. The Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences.

- Iwama, G.K., Alfonso, L.O.B., Vijayan, M.M., 2006. Stress in fish. In: Evans, D.H., Claiborne, J.B. (Eds.), The Physiology of Fishes, third ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, 319–342.
- Izaki S., Tanji O., Okuma M., Shimoda H., Hsu-Oyama N.P.S., Hibino T. & Kitamura K., 1991. IA antigen-positive epithelioid cells in experimentally induced granulomatous inflammation. Journal of Dermatological Science 2, 24–32.
- Jacobson, E.S., 2000. Pathogenic roles for fungal melanin. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 13, 708–717.
- Jansen, MD., Taksdal, T., Wasmuth, M.A., Gjerset, B., Brun, E., Olsen, AB., Breck, O., Sandberg, M., 2010. Salmonid alphavirus (SAV) and pancreas disease (PD) in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.), in freshwater and seawater sites in Norway from 2006 to 2008. Journal of Fish Diseases 33, 391–402.
- Johnson, K.A., Flynn, J.K., Amend, D.F., 1982. Onset of immunity in salmonid fry vaccinated by direct immersion in *Vibrio anguillarum* and *Yersinia ruckeri* bacterins. J Fish Dis;5, 197e205.
- 43. Kameyama, K., Jimnez, M., Muller, J., Ishida, Y., and Hearing, V. J., 1989. Regulation of mammalian melanogenesis by tyrosinase inhibition. Differentiation 42, 28-36.
- Kiessling, A., Espe, M., Ruohonen, K., Mørkøre, T., 2004. Texture, gaping and color of fresh and frozen Atlantic salmon flesh as affected by pre-slaughter iso-eugenol or CO₂ anaesthesia. Aquaculture, 236 (1-4): 645-657.
- Kiessling, A., Ruohonen, K., Bjornevik, M., 2006. Muscle fiber growth and quality in fish. Special Issue, 137-146.

- Kiron, V., Gunji, A., Okamoto, N., Satoh, S., Ikeda, Y. and Watanabe, T., 1993. Dietary nutrient dependent variations on natural-killer activity of the leucocytes of rainbow trout. Fish Pathol. 28: 71-76.
- 47. Knox, D., Cowey, C.B., Adron, J.W., 1984. Effects of dietary zinc intake upon copper metabolism in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri). Aquaculture, Amsterdam, 40: 199-207.
- Komar, C., Enright, W. J., Grisez, L., Tan, Z., 2004. Understanding Fish Vaccination.
 Reprinted from Aquaculture Asia-Pacific Magazine.
- Koppang, E.O., Bjerkås, E., Bjerkås, I., Sveier, H. & Hordvik, I., 2003. Vaccination induces major histocompatibility complex class II expression in the Atlantic salmon eye. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology 58, 9–14.
- Koppang, E.O., Haugarvoll, E., Hordvik, I., Poppe, T.T. & Bjerkås, I., 2004. Granulomatous uveitis associated with vaccination in Atlantic salmon. Veterinary Pathology 41, 122–130.
- Koppang, E.O., Hordvik, I., Bjerkås, I., Torvund, J., Aune, L., Thevarajan, J. & Endresen,
 C., 2003. Production of rabbit antisera against recombinant MHC class II-b chain and
 identification of immune-reactive cells in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Fish and
 Shellfish Immunology14, 115–132.
- Koppang, E.O., Haugarvoll, E., Hordvik, I., Aune, L., Poppe, T.T., 2005. Vaccineassociated granulomatous inflammation and melanin accumulation in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., white muscle. J Fish Dis; 28, 13-22.
- Kuroda Y., Akaogi, J., Nacionales, D.C., Wasdo, S.C., Szabo, N.J., Reeves, W.H. & Satoh, M., (2004). Distinctive patterns of autoimmune response induced by different types of mineral oil. Toxicological Sciences 78, 222–228.

- Larsen, A.S., Austbø, L., Mørkøre, T., Thorsen, J., Hordvik, I., Fischer, U., Jirillo, E., Rimstad, E., Koppang, E.O., 2012. Pigment-producing granulomatous myopathy in Atlantic salmon: A novel inflammatory response.
- 55. Larsson, T., Koppang, E.O., Espe, M., Terjensen, B.F., Kresnov, A., Moreno, H.M., Rørvik, KA., Thomassen, M., Mørkere, T. 2014. Fillet quality and health of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) for a diet supplemented with glutamate. Aquaculture 426-427.
- 56. Larsson, T., Krasnov, A., Lerfall, J., Taksdal, T., Pedersen, M., Mørkøre, T., 2012. Fillet quality and gene transcriptome profiling of heart tissue of Atlantic salmon with pancreas disease (PD). Aquaculture 330–333.
- 57. Lillehaug A., Lunder T. & Poppe T.T., (1992). Field testing of adjuvanted furunculosis vaccines in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Journal of Fish Diseases15, 485–496.
- Lillehaug, A., Sevatdal, S., Endal, T., 1996. Passive transfer of specific maternal immunity does not protect Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fry against Yersiniosis. Shell fish Immunol. 6:521e35.
- Maage, A., Julshamn, K., 1993. Aquaculture-Production of Aquatic Organisms, 117 & 179.
- 60. Mackintosh J.A., 2001. The antimicrobial properties of melanocytes, melanosomes and melanin and the evolution of black skin. Journal of Theoretical Biology 211, 101–113.
- Marmol, V.D., Solano, F., Sels, A., Huez, G., Libert A., Lejeune, F., Ghanem, G., J.Invest. Dermatol., 1993. 101, 871–874.
- Mathiassen, J.R., Misimi, E., Skavhaug A., 2007. A Simple Computer Vision Method for Automatic Detection of Melanin Spots in Atlantic salmon fillets. SINTEF Fisheries and Aquaculture AS, 7465 NO, Norway.

- Mazeaud, M. M., Mazeaud, F.E., and Donaldson, M., 1977. Primary and secondary effects of stress in fish. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 106: 201–212.
- 64. McDowell, L.R., 1989. Vitamin E. In: Vitamins in animal nutrition: Comparative aspects to human nutrition. San Diego, CA. Academic Press; 94-131.
- McGraw, K.J., 2006. Mechanics of carotenoid-based coloration. In: Hill G.E., McGraw K.J., eds. Bird Coloration. Vol. I. Mechanisms and Measurement. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. 177–242.
- McGraw, K.J., 2006. Mechanics of melanin-based coloration. In: Hill G.E., McGraw K.J., eds. Bird Coloration. Vol. I. Mechanisms and Measurement. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. 243–294.
- Meredith, P. Sarna, T., 2006. The physical and chemical properties of eumelanin. Pigment Cell Research. Vol 19, 572-594.
- Michie., 2001. Causes of downgrading in the salmon farming industry. Farmed Fish Quality. John Wiley & Sons, New Jersey, USA.
- Midtlyng, P.J., 1996. A field study on intraperitoneal vaccination of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) against furunculosis. Fish and Shell fish Immunology 6, 553–565.
- Mommsen, T.P., 2004. Salmon spawning migration and muscle protein metabolism: the August Krogh principle at work. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 139, 383–400.
- 71. Mommsen, T.P., Vijayan, M.M., Moon, T.W., 1999. Cortisol in teleosts: dynamics, mechanisms of action, and metabolic regulation. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 9, 211–268.
- 72. Moreno, J., Møller, A.P., 2006. Are melanin ornaments signals of antioxidant and immune capacity in birds? Acta. Zool. Sin 52: 202–208.

- Muiswinkel, W.B.V., 2008. A history of fish immunology and vaccination I. Wageningen University, Netherlands.
- 74. Murray R., Cohen P. & Hardegree M.C., 1972. Mineral oil adjuvants: biological and chemical studies. Annals of Allergy 30, 146–151.
- 75. Mutoloki S., Alexandersen S. & Evensen Ø., 2004. Sequential study of antigen persistence and concomitant inflammatory reactions relative to side-effects and growth of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) following intraperitoneal injection with oil-adjuvanted vaccines. Fish and Shell fish Immunology 16, 633–644.
- Mørkøre, T., 2008. Tekstur i oppdrettsluks. Kunnskapsstatus og forhold som bidrar til fastere fillet. Rapport 32/2008.
- Mørkøre, T., 2010. Personal communication about importance of pigment level in Atlantic salmon. Ås, Norway.
- Mørkøre, T., 2012. Filet av oppdrettslaks: Kvalitetsavvik og årsakssammenhenger Nofima rapport.
- 79. Mørkøre, T., 2012. Mørke flekker i laksefilet -Årsaker til forekomst og forebyggende tiltak.
- 80. Mørkøre, T., and Prytz, K., 2013. Melanin deposition in salmon fillets. FAQ.
- Nakano T., Kameda M., Shoji Y., Hayashi S., Yamaguchi T., Sato M., Redox Biology 2, 2014. 772-776 Olla, B.L., Davis, M.W., 1989. Aquaculture 76, 209–214.
- Nash J.F., Gettings S.D., Diembeck W., Chudowski M. & Kraus A.L., 1996. A toxicological review of topical exposure to white mineral oils. Food and Chemical Toxicology 34, 213–225.

- Nickell, D.C., Springate, J.R.C., 2001. Pigmentation of farmed salmonids. In: Kestin, S.C.,
 Warriss, P.D. (Eds.), Fish Farmed Quality. Blackwell Science, Oxford, 58–75.
- 84. Norsk Fiskeoppdrett. 2008. Melanin I laksefilet. Nr. 9. Årgang 33.
- 85. NRC (National Research Council). 1993. Nutrient requirements of fish. National Academy of Sciences, National Academy Press, Washington DC, USA.
- Orlow S.J. 1995. Melanosomes are specialized members of the lysosomal lineage of organelles. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 105, 3–7.
- Paterson, B., Goodrick, B., Frost, S., 1997. Controlling the quality of aquaculture food products. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 8, 253–257.
- Piretti M.V., Franchini A. & Zanetello T., 1982. Investigation of the hydrocarbons found in the tissues of chickens injected with inactivated oil adjuvant vaccine. Zeitschrift fur Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und –Forschung175, 245–248.
- Pickering, A.D., T.G. Pottinger, J. Carragher, and J.P. Sumpter., 1987. The effects of acute and chronic stress on the levels of reproductive hormones in the plasma of mature male brown trout, Salmo trutta L. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 68: 249–259.
- 90. Poppe T.T. & Breck O. 1997. Pathology of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) intraperitoneally immunized with oil-adjuvanted vaccine. A case report. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 29, 219–226.
- 91. Poppe T.T., Barnes A.C. & Midtlyng P., 2002. Welfare and ethics in fish farming. Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists 22, 148–151.
- Poppe, T.T., 2006. Fortsatt lavt forbruk av legemidler i norsk akvakultur. Trykket i Norsk Fiskeoppdretts Temanummer.

- 93. Porter, G., 2005. Protecting wild Atlantic salmon from impacts of salmon aquaculture: a country-by-country progress report. World Wildlife Fund and Atlantic salmon Federation, 2nd ed., 58.
- 94. Portz, D.E., Woodley, C.M., Cech Jr, J.J., 2006. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 16, 125–170.
- Raposo, G., Fevrier, B., Stoorvogel, W., & Marks, M.S., 2002. Lysosome-related organelles: a view from immunity and pigmentation. Cell Structure and Function 27, 443–456.
- 96. Ribelin, W.E., Migaki, G., 1975. The Pathology of Fishes: Proceedings of a Symposium, part 3, 411-415.
- 97. Roberts, R.J., 1975. Melanin-containing cells of the teleost fish and their relation to disease.
 In: The Pathology of Fishes (ed. By W.E. Ribelin & G. Migaki), 399–428. University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, WI.
- Roberts, L.R., Kurosawa, H., Bronk, S.F., Fesmier, P.J., Agellon, L.B., Leung, W.Y., Mao,
 F., Gores, G.J., 1997. Cathepsin B contributes to bile salt-induced apoptosis of rat hepatocytes. Gastroenterology 113, 1714–1726.
- Satoh, M., Kuroda, Y., Yoshida, H., Behney, K.M., Mizutani, A., Akaogi, J., Nacionales, D.C., Lorenson, T.D., Rosenbauer, R.J. & Reeves, W.H., 2003. Induction of lupus autoantibodies by adjuvants. Journal of Autoimmunity 21, 1–9.
- Shaheen, V.M., Satoh, M., Richards, H.B., Yoshida, H., Shaw, M., Jennette, J.C. & Reeves,
 W.H., 1999. Immuno-pathogenesis of environmentally induced lupus in mice.
 Environmental Health Perspectives 107 (Suppl. 5), 723–727.
- Slominski, A., and Pawelek, J., 1987. MSH binding in Bomirski amelanotic hamster melanoma cells is stimulated by I-tyrosine. Biosci. Rep. 7, 949-954.

- Spickler, A.R., & Roth J.A., 2003. Adjuvants in veterinary vaccines: modes of action and adverse effects. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine 17, 273–281.
- Sulaimon, S.S., & Kitchell, B.E., 2003. The biology of melanocytes. Veterinary Dermatology 14, 57–65.
- Swan, G.A., 1974. Progress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products Volume 31,
 521-582 Structure, Chemistry, and Biosynthesis of the melanin.
- 105. Sylvia, G., Morrisey, M.T., Graham, T., Garcia, S., 1995. Organoleptic qualities of farmed and wild salmon. J. Aqua. Food Prod. Technol. 4, 51–64. Tacon, A.G.J., 1990. Standard methods for the nutrition and feeding of farmed fish and shrimp. The essential nutrients. 1st.ed. Washington D.C. Argent Laboratories Press. 208.
- Tacon, A.J., De Silva, S.S., 1983. Mineral composition of some commercial fish feeds available in Europe. Aquaculture, 3 1: 11-20.
- 107. Taksdal, T., Wiik-Nielsen, J., Birkeland, S., Dalsgaard, P., Mørkøre, T., 2012. Quality of raw and smoked fillets from clinically healthy Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L) following an outbreak of pancreas disease (PD). Journal of Fish Diseases 2012, 35, 897–906.
- 108. Thomson, R.G., 1984. General Veterinary Pathology, 2nd edition, 85–97. W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia, PA.
- 109. Thorsen, J., 2006. Isolation, characterization and expression studies of tyrosinase gene family in Atlantic salmon. Norwegian School of Veterinary Science.
- 110. Tsukuba, T., Okamoto, K., Yasuda, Y., Morikawa, W., Nakanishi, H., Yamamoto, K.,2000. New functional aspects of cathepsin D and cathepsin E. Mol. Cells 10, 601–611.
- 111. Von Schantz T.V., Bensch, S., Grahn, M., Hasselquist, D., Wittzell, H., 1999. Good genes, oxidative stress and condition-dependent sexual signals. Proc. R. Soc. B 266: 1–12.

- Watanabe, T., Kiron, V., Satoh, S. 1997. Trace minerals in fish nutrition. Department of Aquatic Biosciences, Tokyo University of Fisheries. Tokyo 108, Japan. 185-207.
- 113. Wendelaar Bonga, S.E., 1997. The stress response in fish. Physiol. Rev. 77, 591–625.
- 114. Wiseman, S.B., Osachoff, H., Bassett, E., Malhotra, J., Bruno, J., VanAggelen, G. Mommsen, T.P., Vijayan, M.M., 2007. Gene expression pattern in the liver during recovery from an acute stressor in rainbow trout. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. D. 2, 234–244.
- 115. Yamamura, T., Onishi, J., Nishiyama, T., Arch. Dermatol. Res., 2002. 294, 349-354.

9 Appendices

9.1 Appendix A

Data from hematology of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts you choose indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)

Blood parameters	Standard Slaughter				Stress Slaughter			
	Antioxidant	Control	Copper	Zinc	Antioxidant	Control	Copper	Zinc
Total protein	51.0 ^A	47.3 ^B	47.0 ^B	49.0 ^A	47.3 ^{AB}	45.7 ^{BC}	42.7 [°]	46.0 ^B
	±0.3	±0.4	±0.3	±0.3	±0.3	±0.4	±0.4	±0.2
Albumin	25.0 ^A	23.7 ^A	23.7 ^A	24.0 ^A	23.7 ^A	23.0 ^{AB}	21.3 ^B	23.3 ^B
	±0.6	±0.7	±0.3	±0.6	±0.3	±1.0	±0.9	±0.4
Globulin	26.0 ^A	23.7 ^B	23.3 ^{BC}	25.0 ^A	23.7 ^B	22.7 ^{BC}	21.3 [°]	22.7 ^{BC}
	±1.0	±0.3	±0.7	±0.2	±0.3	±0.0	±0.3	±0.3
Aspartate	537.7 ^{AB}	426.7 ^B	416.0 ^B	438.3 ^B	395.0 ^{AB}	411.0 ^A	378.3 ^{AB}	484.7 ^A
aminotransferase	±103.2	±36.6	±55.1	±31.5	±25.0	±25.0	±21.9	±21.7
Alkaline	171.7 ^A	158.3 ^A	147.0 ^B	168.3 ^A	178.3 ^A	157.0 ^A	131.7 ^B	171.0 ^A
phosphatase	±7.3	±10.2	±9.9	±2.6	±7.9	±8.1	±4.3	±2.8
Glutamate	52.7 ^A	30.0 [°]	42.3 ^B	44.7 ^{BC}	43.0 ^B	45.0 ^B	29.0 [°]	36.0 ^{BC}
dehydrogenase	±20.7	±1.2	±15.3	±12.4	±8.3	±10.4	±1.2	±7.2
Lactate	544.7 ^{AB}	311.7 [°]	381.3 ^C	444.7 ^{BC}	474.3 ^{ABC}	612.0 ^A	321. ^C	404.3 ^B
dehydrogenase	±31.3	±50.9	±49.0	±29.7	±40.1	±115.9	±23.7	±42.3
Total bilirubin	1.7 ^{AB}	2.3 ^A	1.7 ^{AB}	2.0 ^A	1.0 ^B	1.0 ^B	1.3 ^B	1.0 ^B
	±0.3	±0.3	±0.3	±0.3	±0.0	±0.0	±0.3	±0.0
Blood parameters	Standard Slaughter				Stress Slaughter			
------------------	--------------------	---------------------	---------------------	---------------------	--------------------	--------------------	--------------------	--------------------
	Antioxidant	Control	Copper	Zinc	Antioxidant	Control	Copper	Zinc
Cortisol	119.3 [°]	260.3 ^{BC}	242.7 ^{BC}	263.3 ^{BC}	714.3 ^A	720 ^A	535 ^{AB}	780.7 ^A
	±16.4	±133.7	±163.8	±94.5	±96.1	±104.2	±24.1	±189.1
Cholesterol	10.1 ^A	9.3 ^{ABC}	9.2 ^{ABC}	9.8 ^{AB}	9.6 ^{AB}	9.0 ^{BC}	8.6 [°]	9.2 ^{ABC}
	±0.2	±0.3	±0.3	±0.2	±0.2	±0.5	0.2	±0.3
Glucose	5.5 ^B	5.4 ^B	5.6 ^B	5.4 ^B	8.4 ^A	8.8 ^A	9.2 ^A	8.2 ^A
	±0.3	±0.4	±0.1	±0.3	±0.6	±0.3	0.2	±0.2
Urea	1.26 ^B	1.2 ^B	1.4 ^B	1.4 ^B	1.56 ^A	1.4 ^B	1.26 ^B	1.53 ^A
	±0.1	±0.1	±0.1	±0.1	±0.2	±0.1	±0.2	±0.2
Phosphorous, P	5.7 ^{BC}	5.9 ^{BC}	5.1 ^C	5.6 ^{BC}	6.1 ^{AB}	6.9 ^A	5.6 ^{BC}	6.1 ^{AB}
	±0.3	±0.3	±0.2	±0.3	±0.2	±0.3	±0.5	±0.4
Calcium, Ca	3.7 ^{BC}	3.2 [°]	3.3 ^C	3.3 ^C	3.6 ^{AB}	3.7 ^A	3.5 ^{ABC}	3.5 ^{ABC}
	±0.0	±0.0	±0.0	±0.0	±0.1	±0.2	±0.2	±0.1
Potassium, K	0.7 ^A	1.0 ^A	1.1 ^A	1.1 ^A	1.1 ^A	1.3 ^A	1.0 ^A	1.2 ^A
	±0.0	±0.3	±0.3	±0.3	±0.3	±0.3	±0.2	±0.2
Chlorine, Cl	138 ^B	139 ^B	141 ^B	138 ^B	148.3 ^A	149.3 ^A	149.7 ^A	151.7 ^A
	±1.5	±0.6	±1.5	±0.8	±1.2	±1.2	±2.7	±1.6
Iron, Fe	8.7 ^A	7.7 ^A	7.3 ^A	6.3 ^A	8.7 ^A	6.3 ^A	7.3 ^A	7.0 ^A
	±0.3	±1.3	±0.9	±0.7	±0.3	±0.9	±0.9	±0.4

9.2 Appendix B

Data from hematology of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) fed a standard diet (Control) or the same diet added Vitamin E and selenium (Antioxidant), copper (Copper) or zinc (Zinc) for 12 weeks. Results are presented as LS mean ± SE and different superscripts you choose indicate significant differences between dietary treatments (P<0.05)

Blood parameters	P-Value							
	Model	Stress	Diet	Stress & Diet				
Total protein	0.0187	0.0036	0.0305	0.7737				
Albumin	0.0888	0.022	0.1068	0.6014				
Globulin	0.0084	0.0015	0.0184	0.7562				
Aspartate aminotransferase	0.484	0.3296	0.5058	0.3714				
Alkaline phosphatase	0.484	0.3296	0.5058	0.3714				
Glutamate dehydrogenase	0.8422	0.6242	0.7464	0.6235				
Lactate dehydrogenase	0.0531	0.49	0.1383	0.0311				
Creatinine	0.0013	0.0001	0.1491	0.9845				
Total bilirubin	0.0265	0.0010	0.5472	0.3193				
Cholesterol	0.1968	0.0692	0.0987	0.9753				
Glucose	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.6792	0.8037				
Urea organ	0.0159	0.0122	0.0108	0.6397				
Calcium, Ca	0.0156	0.003	0.6419	0.4512				
Potassium, K	0.8181	0.2529	0.7116	0.8645				
Chlorine, Cl	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.6170	0.5441				
Iron, Fe	0.2836	0.7643	0.0902	0.6309				
Cortisol	0.0004	0.0001	0.481	0.4526				



Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås, Norway +47 67 23 00 00 www.nmbu.no